

Appraisal for screening for Glomerulonephritis

July 2010



www.sph.nhs.uk

This report has been written by

Dr Cathy Lines, Lead for Screening co-ordination

This work was undertaken by Solutions for Public Health (SPH), who received funding from the Department of Health; the views expressed in this publication are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the Department of Health.

Solutions for Public Health

4150 Chancellor Court Oxford Business Park South Oxford OX4 2GX

Tel: +44 (0)1865 334700

www.sph.nhs.uk



Appraisal of screening for Glomerulonephritis

Contents

1. Introduction	3
2. Background	3
3. The condition	4
3.1 The condition should be an important health problem	4
3.2 The epidemiology and natural history of the condition, including development from latent to declared disease, should be adequately understood and there should be a detectable risk factor, disease marker, latent period or early symptomatic stage	5
3.3 All the cost-effective primary prevention interventions should have been implemented as far as practicable	7
3.4 If the carriers of a mutation are identified as a result of screening the natural history of people with this status should be understood, including the psychological implications	8
4. The Test	9
4.1 There should be a simple, safe, precise and validated screening test	9
4.2 Current use of tests	11
4.3 The distribution of test values in the target population should be known and a suitable cut-off level defined and agreed	11
4.4 The test should be acceptable to the population	11
4.5 There should be an agreed policy on the further diagnostic investigation of individuals with a positive test result and on the choices available to those individuals	12
4.6 If the test is for mutations the criteria used to select the subset of mutations to be covered by screening, if all possible mutations are not being tested, should be clearly set out	12
5. Treatment	12
5.1 There should be an effective treatment or intervention for patients identified through early detection, with evidence of early treatment leading to better outcomes than late treatment	12
5.2 There should be agreed evidence based policies covering which individuals should be offered treatment and the appropriate treatment to be offered	12
5.3 Clinical management of the condition and patient outcomes should be optimised in all health care providers prior to participation in a screening programme	13

2 | Appraisal of screening for Glomerulonephritis

6.	The Screening Programme	.13
	6.1 There should be evidence from high quality Randomised Controlled Trials that the screening programme is effective in reducing mortality or morbidity.	.13
	6.2 Screening strategies	
7.	Conclusion	.15
Re	eferences	. 16

1. Introduction

This paper reviews screening for Glomerulonephritis against the UK National screening criteria for appraising effectiveness and appropriateness of a screening programme (National Screening Committee 2003).

In February 2002 (Laitner 2002) a brief review concluded that the National Screening Committee should not recommend screening for Glomerulonephritis.

In October 2009 a knowledge update (Coles 2009) was carried out to determine if any further, relevant studies were published between January 2001 and September 2009. A total of 7047 references were identified by the search strategy of which 181 were deemed to be relevant.

Evidence from the initial review by Laitner (2002), relevant papers identified by the Knowledge Update form the basis of this review.

2. Background

Glomerulonephritis (GN) covers a group of conditions in which there is injury to the glomerulus, the filtering unit of the kidney. Nearly all this group of conditions are a subset of a more general umbrella term of Chronic Kidney Disease (CKD). The most common types of CKD are due to diabetes, hypertension and GN (National Collaborating Centre for Chronic Conditions – NCC-CC 2008). CKD was reviewed by the National Screening Committee and it concluded that there was insufficient evidence to support the implementation of a population based screening programme (Heffernan 2008).

It should be clear to the reader throughout this appraisal whether the evidence referenced relates to CKD generally which includes GN or GN as a specific set of conditions.

It may be appropriate for any future appraisal of CKD to include GN as a sub-section of the review.

The context of this appraisal must be seen in the light of the following developments:

- 1. In 2004 the Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Controversies Conference recommended that all countries should have a targeted screening programme for CKD (Levey *et a*/2007).
- 2. The Department of Health announced that the NHS would be implementing 'NHS Health Checks' by 2012/13 (Department of Health 2008). This programme will invite all people between the ages of 40-74 for a health check every five years (NHS Health Check Programme, 2009). The objective of this policy is to lead to a higher uptake of primary prevention interventions, reduce the risk of vascular disease and enable earlier detection of kidney disease and diabetes (Department of Health 2008). The NHS Health Check includes a test for hypertension, which is commonly associated with GN and wider CKD (NCC-CC 2008). If hypertension is diagnosed then kidney function will be tested to give an indication if CKD is present (NHS Health Check Programme, 2009). With the

implementation of the national health checks a significant proportion of people identified with CKD will have a diagnosis of GN.

3. The condition

3.1 The condition should be an important health problem

GN can occur as primary glomerular disease or secondary to drugs, infections or tumours (Macanovic & Mathieson 2007). Typically there are no symptoms of the disease and late presentation is common with many patients only becoming aware of the condition in the last stages (Nickolas *et al* 2004). Urinanalysis with a positive result for total protein, albumin or red blood cells in the sample is often the first indication of the condition but renal biopsy is the method to definitively diagnose GN (Macanovic & Mathieson 2007).

GN is commonly a minor illness but may persist for many years. In a small number of cases kidney failure (End Stage Renal Failure) may develop and then renal replacement therapy (RRT) is necessary on an ongoing basis for the patient to remain alive. On 31/12/2008 there were 47,525 people undergoing RRT in the UK of which 16% (7604) had a primary renal diagnosis of GN (Ansell & Feest 2009). Biopsy proven GN remains the most common primary renal diagnosis of all those receiving RRT in the UK. A high but unknown proportion of those cases with 'Uncertain aetiology' includes people with presumed GN who have not had a biopsy to confirm the diagnosis.

Table 1: Percentage distribution of primary renal diagnosis leading to RRT in
the UK (prevalence)

Diagnosis	Percentage
Diabetes	14.1
GN	16.0
Pyleonephritis	12.0
Polycystic Kidney disease	9.6
Renal vascular disease	3.5
Hypertension	5.6
Uncertain aetiology-includes presumed GN without renal biopsy)	20.5
Other	14.5
Data not available	4.4

Source: Ansell & Feest 2009

Reported incidences of GN vary depending on renal biopsy policies and in the UK the range is between 17 to 60 per million population (Macanovic & Mathieson 2007). However, there are many more mild cases where a renal biopsy is not carried out and the disease does not progress to the point of kidney failure. Any age group may be affected though some types are particularly common in children.

In the UK 6639 adult patients with CKD started renal replacement therapy (RRT) in 2008 of which 664 (10.5%) had a definite diagnosis of GN (Ansell & Feest 2009).

Diagnosis	Percentage
Diabetes	21.4
GN	10.5
Pyleonephritis	6.9
Polycystic Kidney disease	6.5
Renal vascular disease	6.1
Hypertension	5.3
Uncertain aetiology-includes presumed GN without renal biopsy)	18.5
Other	13.9
Data not available	10.8

Table 2: Percentage distribution of primary renal diagnosis leading to RRT inthe UK in 2008 (incident)

Source: Ansell & Feest 2009

Biopsy proven GN is much more common in those under 65 compared to those over 65 (13.6% vs 7.1%) and the male to female ratio is 2.2 (Ansell & Feest 2009).

The leading renal diagnosis in the prevalent cohort of patients is GN compared to diabetes in the 2008 incident cohort. This reflects the different ages and survival of the patients with different diagnoses. People with GN generally start RRT at an earlier age than those with diabetes and are receiving treatment for a longer period (Ansell & Feest 2009).

The Health Technology Assessment published in 2005 indicated that in 2000 there were approximately 30,000 people receiving RRT at a cost of £600 million pounds which equates to a treatment cost of £20,000 per person per year. In 2008 GN accounted for at least 7604 cases requiring RRT which at £20,000 per person would cost £15.2 million per year.

3.2 The epidemiology and natural history of the condition, including development from latent to declared disease, should be adequately understood and there should be a detectable risk factor, disease marker, latent period or early symptomatic stage

There are a number of lifestyle factors that are strongly associated with many types of CKD (diabetes, cardiovascular disease, obesity, hypertension) but with GN immune reactions underlie the condition. Black *et al* (2010) reviewed the data about the natural history of CKD but there was limited detailed information.

In some cases of GN the target immune response is known, for example when GN complicates tumours or infections (Hurtada & Johnson 2005) but in many cases the target is unknown and an autoimmune aetiology is suspected. As with other autoimmune conditions GN is considered to be a result of a combination of genetic susceptibility and environmental factors. The genetic factors are typically genes involved in the control of the immune response whereas the environmental factors may be drugs, chemicals or infections (Macanovic & Mathieson 2007).

Different patterns of abnormality within the glomerulus may be used to define subtypes of glomerular disease. There is a poor understanding of how GN is triggered and subsequently develops with many of these sub-types (Macanovic and Mathieson 2007).

Late diagnosis of GN is a major issue because there may be a long undetected asymptomatic latent phase and significant disease is diagnosed when the patient does present (Macanovic & Mathieson 2007). In contrast one type of GN has a rapid onset and it is unlikely that a screening programme would be able to be effective in detecting these cases.

Minimal-change Nephropathy

Minimal-change nephropathy (MCN) occurs in both children and adults but is most common in children. It sometimes develops secondary to drug use (especially NSAIDs) or malignancy (especially Hodgkins disease and other lymphomas). The idiopathic form is thought to result from an abnormality of T lymphocytes but studies to clarify this mechanism have been inconsistent (Macanovic & Mathieson 2007).

MCN typically presents with heavy proteinura, hypoalbuminaemia and odema.

Focal Segmental Glomerulosclerosis (FSGS)

FSGS is diagnosed when a renal biopsy shows scarring of some glomerli or parts of some glomerli. It is associated with hypertension and extreme obesity (Kincaid-Smith 2004), HIV infection, and may result from a reduction in functioning nephrons (eg: nephrectomy). This has led to the hypothesis that FSGS results from 'overloading' of healthy nephrons. This has been shown in animal studies although there is little evidence that this is the case in humans (Macanovic and Mathieson 2007).

FSGS presents with nephrotic syndrome and may be associated with microscopic haematuria and impaired renal function. The disease often progresses to ESRD despite treatment (Macanovic & Mathieson 2007). About 50% of patients develop ESRD within 10 years.

Membranous nephropathy (MN)

Idiopathic MN may arise from the formation of immune complexes the characteristics of which determine that they are localized in the kidney. This autoimmune response results in damage to the glomerli. MN may be a secondary condition in response to use of NSAIDs, gold, penicillamine and may develop when solid-organ tumors are present (especially breast, colon or bronchus). Infection, hypothyroidism, and SLE may also trigger MN.

MN typically presents with proteinuria, which may be severe enough to cause nephrotic syndrome. The prognosis is dependent on the underlying disease. When a particular drug that has triggered MN is withdrawn remission is likely, whereas MN associated with a malignancy will remain until the tumour is removed. Where there is no underlying cause at least 25% undergo spontaneous remission (Macanovic & Mathieson 2007).

Mesangiocapillary GN (MCGN)

MCGN is uncommon and presents with proteinuria, haematuria, hypertension and impaired renal function. There are three subtypes identified via electron microscopy although the clinical presentation is similar. Idiopathic MCGN is difficult to treat.

MCGN may develop as a result of chronic infection (visceral abscesses, infective endocarditis) or cryoglobulinaemia.

It tends to have a progressive course with 50% of patients having chronic renal failure within 10 years (Macanovic & Mathieson 2007).

Focal necrotising GN (FNGN)

FNGN has rapid onset, may be triggered by a number of environmental factors such as exposure to hydrocarbons, smoking and viral or other infections. Severe acute inflammation occurs in the glomerulus and the patient usually presents with acute renal failure, haematuria and proteinuria. It is a medical emergency (Macanovic & Mathieson 2007). It is unlikely a screening programme would be effective at detecting that this type of GN because of the rapidity of onset (within 3 months).

IgA Nephropathy

IgA nephropathy is the most common form of glomerulonephritis worldwide (Macanovic & Mathieson 2007). The prevalence differs widely between geographic areas accounting for 29.2% of biopsied populations in Asia, 12% in Australia, 10.7% in Europe and 5% in North America (Shen et al 2008).

IgAN is relatively rare in the Indian sub-continent and people of African descent (Kiryluk et al 2010). Familial IgAN was first reported in the 1970s and studies have shown that 4-10% of patients with IgAN have had a family history of kidney disease (Kiryluk et al 2010). Other studies have reported that urinary abnormalities were detected in over 20% of asymptomatic first degree relatives of people with IgAN (Kiryluk et al 2010). No causal gene has yet been identified and ascertainment of familial forms has been complicated by the need for renal biopsy for a definitive diagnosis of the disease. A study of incident cases in Japan concluded that risk factors associated with an increase in the likelihood of developing IgAN were genetic factors, immune response to upper respiratory infections and nutritional imbalance (Wakai et al 2002). The typical clinical presentation is haematuria, which may be macroscopic. Without proteinuria the prognosis is good, if proteinuria is more than 1g/24 hours the risk of ESRD is about 25% (Macanovic & Mathieson 2007). Shen et al (2008) showed that out of 177 cases with early IgAN 28% presented with just haematuria, 16% with just proteinuria and 56% with both. Of the 177 cases 38% had hypertension. A high proportion (up to 40%) of people with early IgAN progressed to chronic renal failure (Shen et al 2008).

3.3 All the cost-effective primary prevention interventions should have been implemented as far as practicable

Some types of GN may be triggered by environmental or lifestyle factors whilst others may occur because of a genetic disposition or develop spontaneously with an unknown aetiology (Macanovic and Mathieson 2007).

General lifestyle advice is to achieve a healthy weight, take exercise and stop smoking. These actions will all reduce the likelihood of developing CKD including some types of GN (National Institute Clinical Excellence - NICE 2008).

The full NICE guidance (2008) recommends that in primary care people should be offered testing for CKD if they have any of the following risk factors:

8 Appraisal of screening for Glomerulonephritis

- Diabetes
- Hypertension (associated with most types of GN)
- Cardiovascular disease
- Structural renal tract disease renal calculi or prostatic hypertrophy
- Multisystem diseases with potential kidney involvement (GN)
- Family history of CKD (associated with some types of GN)
- Opportunistic detection of haematuria or proteinuria (associated with some types of GN)

Additionally in 2008 the Department of Health (2008) announced that the NHS Health Check would be implemented by Primary Care Trusts by 2012/13.

The programme aims to invite all 40-74 year olds for a health check at their GP practice every five years. PCTs may rollout the programme by targeting their high risk most deprived populations first before inviting the whole cohort. The Health Checks will determine:

- Smoking status
- Ethnicity
- Body Mass Index
- Cholesterol test
- Family history of Cardiovascular Disease
- Blood pressure
- Blood glucose testing
- Previous medical history

Using this information a Chronic Kidney Disease risk assessment will be triggered if a persons blood pressure is >140/90mmHg or where the systolic blood pressure is above 140mmHg and/or the dystolic blood pressure is above 90mmHg. It is therefore more likely that people with hypertension associated with GN (such as FSGS) will be identified with the health check than other types of GN such as IgAN where proteinuria rather than hypertension is a primary symptom. Buckalew *et al* (1996) reported a prevalence of 85% of people with a GN diagnosis had hypertension in contrast to Shen *et al* (2008) where only 38% of people with IgA nephropathy had the condition.

3.4 If the carriers of a mutation are identified as a result of screening the natural history of people with this status should be understood, including the psychological implications

More research is needed before genetic testing could be carried out to identify a subset of individuals at risk of developing IgAN (Kiryluk 2010).

4. The Test

4.1 There should be a simple, safe, precise and validated screening test

Dipstick analysis

The presence of low levels of protein, albumin or red blood cells may indicate kidney damage. A urine sample checked for protein with a reagent strip has been used to test people for CKD as an initial primary care investigation and for mass population screening (Heidland *et al* 2009, Iseki 2006).

Haematuria may indicate CKD but it may also indicate other tumors, urinary tract infections, stone disease and bleeding from other benign diseases of the urinary tract (NCC-CC 2008). Screening studies indicate that asymptomatic microscopic haematuria in the UK adult male population is 2.5% rising to 22% in men over 60 years of age (Ritchie *et al* 1986). The NCC-CC (2008) reported the results of one study (Chan *et al* 2005) of patients with lupus were the sensitivity of the reagent strips was high (98%) but specificity and PPV was low (53% and 39% respectively). Iseki *et al* 2003 showed that out of 106,177 people screened in Japan for heamaturia 9% had a positive result. Of the 106,177 people screened 420 went on to develop End Stage Renal Failure of which 18.1% had haematuria. Of these 420 people 48.8% (205) had chronic GN. The NCC-CC (2008) concluded haematuria alone would not be sufficient to trigger a referral and that clinicians would need evidence of concurrent proteinuria and/or evidence of decreased glomeruler filtration rate before recommending renal biopsy to confirm kidney damage.

Proteinuria is a strong independant predictor of ESRD in a mass screening setting (Iseki *et al* 2003). In two population studies the prevalence of proteinuria was between 1% and 6%. In one Japanese study of over 100,000 adults the prevalence of dipstick proteinuria was 5% (Iseki *et al* 1996). From a 16 years study of over 5,000 men and women in the Framingham cohort the prevalence of proteinuria was between 1% and 6% depending on age and gender (Kannel *et al* 1984). Rates of definitely significant disease in asymptomatic individuals with proteinuria have been in the range of 0.0% and 1.4% (Woolhander *et al* 1989). Of 420 screened subjects who went on to develop ESRD (205 with GN), 44.3% had proteinuria (Iseki *et al* 2003).

The measurement of protein in urine samples using reagent strips (dipsticks) have been in use for 50 years but have significant limitations. Most reagent strips used in primary care do not detect total protein but only albumin (NCC-CC 2008). The levels, of either protein or albumin, depends on concentrations that may vary depending on urine flow rate, patient dehydration, exercise, infection and extremely alkaline urine leading to false positive results. Conversely false negatives may occur because of excessive hydration (NCC-CC 2008). Gai *et al* (2006) tested 297 patients with different renal diseases, the dipstick test failed to detect pathological proteinuria in 94 people (31.6%).

The 'gold standard' method of urinanalysis is to collect all urine from the patient over a 24 hour period and then test it for protein or albumin. However, this is subject to inaccurate collection, low patient compliance and an expense and time requirement that is difficult to implement routinely (NCC-CC 2008). A rate of protein excretion of ≥150mg/24h or albumin excretion of 30-300mg/24h is a positive test result (NCC-CC 2008).

NCC-CC (2008) reviewed the evidence for diagnostic accuracy of reagent strips to detect albuminaria and proteinuria. For albuminaria overall the sensitivity was generally low

ranging from 37%-93%. The specificity was high (93 -98%) whilst the positive predictive value varied between 71-91% for the same cut off point. For proteinuria, Gai *et al* (2006) reported a sensitivity of 49% and specificity of 94% compared to the 24-hour protein excretion.

In contrast Craig *et al* (2002) reported that when the gold standard of a 24-hour urinary excretion of protein of 300 mg or more is used dipstick sensitivity was 90% and a specificity of 67%. It was concluded that as only 30% of those who had a positive dipstick result would also have a positive test using the gold standard 24hr urine excretion, there would be a high proportion of false positives. Of the 30% confirmed positives 13% will be assessed as having a "moderate" to "high risk" of ESRD in the future. This gives an overall positive predictive value (PPV) of about 4% for a positive urine dip test for protein as an assessment of moderate to high risk of ESRD in the future (Craig *et al* 2002).

Despite the limitations of the dipstick method it is commonly used for mass screening programmes as the first line test because it is simple inexpensive and can be used in a range of community settings (Boulware *et al* 2003). Urinanalysis has been accepted for use by the population in Japan to test annually for CKD as part of the mass screening programme that has been in place since 1973 (Imai *et al* 2007).

Albumin and total protein creatinine ratio

Other methods of detecting proteinuria involve calculating the protein:creatinine ratio (PCR) or albumin:creatinine ratio (ACR) from a single urine sample. Creatinine, a byproduct of muscle metabolism, is normally excreted into the urine on a consistent basis. Its level in the urine is relatively stable. Since the concentration (or dilution) of urine varies throughout the day, this property of creatinine allows its measurement to be used as a corrective factor in urine samples (NCC-CC 2008).

Both ACR and PCR have been shown to correlate with the 24 hour albumin or protein excretion rate (NCC-CC 2008, Antunes *et al* 2008, Gai *et al* 2006, Craig *et al* 2002). These ratios are calculated by measuring albumin or protein (mg per dL) and dividing by the level of creatinine (g. per dL). In contrast to the urine dipstick test a urine sample needs to be tested in the laboratory to obtain a result. NCC-CC (2008) reported from unpublished data that a PCR with cut off of 98mg/mmol was found to give a sensitivity of 95% and specificity of 83%. For ACR with a threshold of 16.5mg/mmol was found to give the same sensitivity and specificity of 70%.

Glomerular filtration rate

The Glomerular Filtration Rate (GFR) is equal to the sum of the filtration rates in all of the functioning nephrons and is the best index of overall kidney function. The gold standard method for estimating GFR (eGFR) requires the measurement of a filtration marker such as inulin. Accurate testing is expensive and time consuming. However, a cheaper and easier, although less accurate, method involves the measurement of serum creatinine. In order to improve the accuracy of GFR estimation an equation can be used that corrects for the factors which adversely influence the serum creatinine result. NICE guidance (2008) recommended that where eGFR is measured using serum creatinine the 4-variable MDRD equation should be used. This is in line with the UK CKD guidelines and the UK consensus conference (Taal 2007, Archibald *et al* 2008).

4.2 Current use of tests

CKD testing in the NHS Health Check programme

Guidance for the NHS Health Check programme indicates that following a raised systolic or diastolic measurement of blood pressure that a serum creatinine test should be used to calculate the Glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) to assess the level of kidney function. Where the eGFR is below 60ml/min/1.73m² the management and assessment for chronic kidney disease is required in line with NICE guidance (2008).

If eGFR is above 60ml/min/1.73m² no further assessment is needed unless the individual is diagnosed with hypertension or diabetes mellitus then their risk of kidney disease will be monitored as part of the management of their condition.

Guidance on CKD testing in routine clinical practice

The NICE (2008) recommended that the dipstick test is not used to identify proteinuria in routine clinical practice unless it can detect albumin at low concentrations and the result is expressed as ACR. ACR should be used as the preferred measure as this has greater sensitivity than PCR for low levels of proteinuria although PCR is acceptable. Currently ACR is predominantly used for identifying proteinuria in patients with diabetes whereas PCR is used for all other patients. UK guidelines currently reflect this difference in the tests used for different groups of patients (Taal 2007, Archibald *et al* 2008).

4.3 The distribution of test values in the target population should be known and a suitable cut-off level defined and agreed

A dipstick result of (1+) for proteinuria would indicate a positive result and indicate further testing was required (NICE 2008). A dipstick test result of 1+ would be a positive test result for heamaturia (NICE 2008). When ACR is used to identify proteinuria a result between 30mg/mmol and 70mg/mmol should be confirmed by a subsequent early morning sample. If ACR is above 70mg/mmol then repeat testing is not required (NICE 2008). When eGFR is reported as >60ml/min/1.73m² in a person not previously tested the test should be repeated within two weeks with an allowance of + or - 5% to account for biological and analytical variability. A drop of 20% in serum creatinine between tests indicates a significant reduction in renal function (NCC-CC 2008).

4.4 The test should be acceptable to the population

Changes in urine composition have been used for centuries in many parts of the world as a method for diagnosing diseases and for over one hundred years urine has been chemically tested for protein (Tighe 2004). In 1956 the first dipstick test, Clinistix, was marketed for use in primary and secondary care (Tighe 2004). The test is non-invasive and although it has been in widespread use historically and geographically no studies could be identified which considered whether urine testing was acceptable. Additionally no evidence could be found about whether the test or subsequent investigations of abnormal results would cause any physical, psychological or social harm. Testing by dipstick or by deriving ACR from a urine sample has successfully been used in many studies (NCC-CC 2008) and in the Japanese mass screening programme (Imai *et al* 2007).

4.5 There should be an agreed policy on the further diagnostic investigation of individuals with a positive test result and on the choices available to those individuals

The current NICE guidance outlines further diagnostic investigations once a positive result has been identified (NICE 2008).

4.6 If the test is for mutations the criteria used to select the subset of mutations to be covered by screening, if all possible mutations are not being tested, should be clearly set out.

There are currently no mutations that can be tested.

5. Treatment

5.1 There should be an effective treatment or intervention for patients identified through early detection, with evidence of early treatment leading to better outcomes than late treatment

There is some evidence that treatment for hypertension and proteinuria with ACE Inhibitors and immunosuppressive drugs can delay progression of GN to end stage renal disease (NICE 2008, Ballardie 2004, Laville & Alamartine 2004, Kidney Disease Outcomes Quality Initiative, 2004) although grade 1 evidence is very limited and all the authors recommend that further studies are necessary. Bargman (1999), Burgess (1999), Lindal (1999) Levin (1999) and Muirhead (1999) each proposed evidence based treatment strategies for the different types of GN as has the guideline published by the Singapore Ministry of Health (2007).

Black *et al* (2010) reviewed evidence about early referral to specialist nephrology care and determined that this would provide a patient with access to an array of investigations, treatments and dietary advice. This would aim to slow the progression of CKD and enable preparation for planned RRT when necessary. The evidence for this was limited and only seven studies and no randomised controlled trials relevant to assessing clinical effectiveness of early referral strategies were identified. Black *et al* (2010) suggested that this should be a major focus for research.

5.2 There should be agreed evidence based policies covering which individuals should be offered treatment and the appropriate treatment to be offered

There are agreed policies on the treatment of glomerulonephritis (NICE 2008, DOH 2010) which can decrease the progression of GN toward ESRD.

Evidence based recommendations for the treatment of GN are available (NICE 2008, Singapore Ministry of Health 2007). Once a person has been diagnosed with GN management of the condition should include some or all of the following:

- Lifestyle change to lower blood pressure and cardiovascular disease risk (eg: stop smoking, lose weight, take more exercise)
- Immunosuppressive therapies (eg: use of prednisolene, alkylating agents and Cyclosporin A)
- Monitoring of haematuria and proteinuria regularly
- Management of blood pressure (eg: with ACE inhibitors)
- Use of antithrombotics (eg: dipyridamole)
- Dietary supplements and exclusions (eg: reduced salt intake)
- Intravenous immunoglobulin
- Plasma exchange

5.3 Clinical management of the condition and patient outcomes should be optimised in all health care providers prior to participation in a screening programme

NICE (2008) sets out the current guidance for the clinical management of the condition. However it is not clear if this is optimized in all health care providers. Black *et al* (2010) identified the need for prospective randomized controlled trials to assess the clinical effectiveness of early referral and management strategies on the progress of CKD as there was only limited evidence of benefit.

6. The Screening Programme

6.1 There should be evidence from high quality Randomised Controlled Trials that the screening programme is effective in reducing mortality or morbidity.

No evidence was identified from high quality Randomised Controlled Trials that a mass population screening programme for GN in the UK would be effective in reducing mortality or morbidity.

6.2 Screening strategies in other countries

Japan's screening programme

In the early 1970's kidney disease screening was implemented for all workers and school age children using urinanlysis targeting GN (Imai *et al* 2007). In 1983 the programme was expanded to a community based screening programme for those 40 years of age or over. This was still based on urinalysis but in 1992 an additional *serum* creatinine measurement was included for all those tested who were 40 years or older. Prevalence of proteinuria was 4.1% and in a 6 yr follow up study new proteinuria developed in 0.4% -0.9% of all Japanese men (Iseki *et al* 2003). Wakai *et al* (2004) showed that the incidence of ESRD from GN in men was 96.3 per 1 million population in 1995/6 which decreased to 84.0 pmp in 1999/2000. Similarly in women there was a reduction from 52.7 pmp to 46.1 pmp for the same time periods. In comparison in the US, Wirta *et al* (2008), showed an incidence proven biopsy rate of 17.6 pmp for GN.

IgAN is by far the most common form of GN and accounted for 47.4% of people with primary GN who underwent renal biopsy in Japan (Research Group on Chronic Renal

14 Appraisal of screening for Glomerulonephritis

disease, 1999). Specific treatments for IgAN such as steroids and ACE inhibitors that have been developed over the last 10 years may have improved the prognosis of the condition so it is difficult to assess improvements due to the screening programme and those due to improved treatment (Imai *et al* 2007). As the prevalence of GN has decreased there has been an increase in diabetes (Imai *et al* 2007) which is now the leading cause of ESRD in Japan. It has been suggested that a new kidney disease screening programme targeted at people with diabetes, hypertension and metabolic syndrome may be required. In order to reduce costs the Japanese health administration removed the serum creatinine test from the list of mandatory screening tests (Imai *et al* 2007). Some cases of GN will be identified by targeted screening and the cost effectiveness of CKD screening will be improved but it is likely that a proportion of GN cases that would have been identified by the original programme will not be diagnosed if the targeted approach is implemented (Imai *et al* 2007).

Norway Study

A study by Hallan *et al* (2006) invited everyone 20 years or older to participate in a general health survey in a county in Norway. Between 1995 and 1997, 65,604 (70.6%) people participated in the survey which included an extensive questionnaire and analysis of serum creatinine. A total of 3069 (4.7%) people had chronic kidney disease indicating that 21 people would need to be screened to identify one case. If screening was restricted to those with hypertension, diabetes or those who were over 55 then 93.2% of patients with CKD would be identified with the number needed to screen dropping to 8.7. Screening only people with previously known diabetes or hypertension would identify one case for every 6 people screened but only 44.2% of all cases would be detected. During the eight year follow up only 38 of the 3069 people with CKD progressed to ESRD and the risk was especially low in people without hypertension, or diabetes, in women and those aged under 70. They concluded that screening people with hypertension, diabetes and those over 50 was the most effective strategy to detect patients with CKD. This was based on the premise that serum creatinine measurements would be taken to estimate GFR.

Screening for Proteinuria in US adults

Boulware *et al* (2003) carried out a cost-effectiveness analysis of screening for CKD and looked at a number of elements including screening those who had hypertension and diabetes and those who had neither condition (which would include a significant proportion of people with GN). For those without diabetes or hypertension it was not cost effective to carry out annual screening until age 60 whereas for those with hypertension screening was cost effective from age 30. They concluded that 'early detection of urine protein to slow progression of chronic kidney disease and decrease mortality is not cost-effective unless selectively directed to high risk groups (those with diabetes, hypertension and older persons).' Jaar *et al* (2008) and Powe & Boulware (2009) reviewed the principles of screening as they apply to CKD testing in the adult population of the US. They concluded that the majority of Wilson and Jungner (1968) criteria could be met and that a population based screening programme should be implemented in certain high risk groups (those with hypertension, diabetes and those in older age groups). This was based on the premise that urine protein would be measured.

7. Conclusion

There has been a strong focus on early identification of CKD including GN over the past few years however there are still significant aspects of the condition and its management with little robust evidence to indicate that a screening programme would be effective.

Evidence from screening programmes and studies from around the world indicate that a general population based screening programme to afford the early detection of CKD which includes GN is not cost or clinically effective (Boulware et al 2003, Powe & Boulware 2009, Hallan *et al* 2006). International guidance recommends that a targeted screening programme aimed at people with diabetes, hypertension and cardiovascular disease should be implemented with the use of a urine test for proteinurua and a blood test for creatinine to estimate GFR (Levey *et al* 2007).

There have been no randomised controlled trials assessing the effectiveness of a screening programme in reducing the mortality and morbidity from GN. The treatments for GN show some effectiveness but the evidence is limited and more effective treatments need to be developed and tested. There is no direct evidence of acceptability of the test or follow up investigations to the UK population.

The current position in the UK is that NICE (2008) have recommended that case finding for wider CKD and GN in primary care should be optimized however it is not clear how effective that will be in identifying significant numbers of cases. The NHS Health Check is in the process of being implemented which will through it's monitoring of hypertension also identify a proportion of GN cases. The targeting of CKD detection through screening for diabetes, hypertension and CVD will not pick up the proportion of people with GN who present only with proteinuria or haematuria.

Data from the NHS Health Check should be used to assess how effective the programme is in identifying different types of CKD including GN. This will help to inform further reviews. If the NHS Health Check is considered to be the best way to identify people with CKD and GN then further reviews should consider whether a more specific test of kidney function should be used rather than hypertension.

It is recommended that when the screening policy for CKD and GN are next updated that they are combined in one review.

References

Ansell T & Feest (2009) Uk Renal Registry report. UK Renal Registry, Bristol UK.

Antunes VVH, Veronese FJV, Morales JV (2008) *Diagnostic accuracy of the protein/creatinine ratio in urine samples to estimate 24h proteinuria in patients with primary glomerulopathies: a longitudinal study*. Nephr Dialysis Transplant (23) pp2242-2246

Archibald G, Bartlett W, Brown A, Christie B, Eliott A (2008) UK Consensus conference on Early Chronic Kidney disease.

Ballardie FW (2004) *IgA nephropathy treatment 25 years on:can we halt progression? The evidence base*. Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation; Vol 19; pp1041-1046

Bargman JM (1999) *Management of minimal lesion glomerulonephritis: Evidence based recommendations*. Kidney International; Vol 55 (70); pp s3-s16.

Black C, Sharma P, Scotland G, McCullough K, McGurn D, Robertson L, *et al.*(2010) *Early referral strategies for management of people with markers of renal disease: a systematic review of the evidence of clinical effectiveness, cost-effectiveness and economic analysis.* Health Technology Assessment 14(21).

Boulware E, Jaar BG, Tarver-Carr MR, et al (2003) *Screening for proteinuria in US adults: A cost effectiveness analysis.* 290(23); pp3101-3114.

Buckalew VM Jr, Berg RL, Wang SR, Porush JG, Rauch S, Shulman G (1996) *Prevalence* of hypertension in1795 subjects with chronic renal disease: The modification of diet in renal disease, baseline cohort. Modification of Diet in Renal Disease Study group. American Journal of Kidney Disease; Vol 28; pp811-821.

Burgess E (1999) *Management of focal segmental glomeruloscerosis: Evidence based recommendations.* Kidney International; Vol 55(70); pp s26-s32.

Chan RWY, Chow KM, Tam LS, et al (2005) *Can the Urine dipstick reduce the need for microscopy for assessment of systematic lupus erythematosus disease activity?* Journal of Rheumatology; Vol 32(5); pp828-831.

Coles (2009) *Knowledge update for screening for glomerulonephritis.* National Screening Committee London UK.

Craig J, Barratt A, Cumming R, Irwig L, Salkeld G (2002) *Feasibility study of the early detection and treatment of renal disease by mass screening.* Internal medicine journal; Vol 32(1-2); pp6-14

DH (2010) National Service Framework for renal services – Part Two- Chronic Kidney Disease acute renal failure and end of life care. Department of Health 2010.

DH (2008) *Putting prevention first - Vascular checks risk assessment and management. Impact assessment*. Department of Health 2008.

Gai M; Motta D; Giunti S; Fop F; Masini S; Mezza E; Segoloni GP ; Lanfranco G (2006) *Comparison between 24-h proteinuria, urinary protein/creatinine ratio and dipstick test in patients with nephropathy: Patterns of proteinuria in dipstick-negative patients.* Scandinavian Journal of Clinical and Laboratory Investigation, 1502-7686, Vol 66(4); pp299-308

Hallan S, Dahl K, Oien C, Grootendorst D, Aasbey A, Holmes J, Dekker F (2006) Screening strategies for chronic kidney disease in the general population: follow up of cross sectional health survey. British Medical Jouranal vol:333 pp1047

Heffernan C (2008) *Screening for Chronic Kidney Disease: An evidence based review for the National Screening Committee.* NSC

Heidland H, Bahner U, Deetjen A, Gotz R, Heidbreder E, Schafer R, Teschner M (2009) *Mass screening for early detection of renal disease : benefits and linitations of self testing for proteinuria*. Journal of Nephrology Vol 22(2) pp249-54

Hurtada A, Johnson RJ (2005) *Hygene hypothesis and prevalence of GN*. Kidney Int Supplement; Vol 97; pp 62-67

Imai E & Iseka Y (2004) *Perspectives doe gene therapy in renal disease*. Inern Med 43; pp85-96

Imai E, Yamagata K, Iseki K, Iso H, Horio M, Mkino H, Hishida A, Matsuo S (2007) *Kidney disease screening program in Japan: History Outcome Perspectives*. Clin Am J Soc Nephrol; Vol 2; pp1360-1366

Iseki K, Iseki C, Ikemiya Y, Fukiyama K (1996) *Risk of developing end-stage renal disease in a cohort of mass screening*. Kidney International; 49; pp800-805

Iseki K, Ikeyama Y, Iseki C, Takshita S (2003) *Proteinuria and the risk of developing end-stage renal disease*. Kidney International; Vol 63; pp1468-1474

Iseki (2006). *Screening for renal disease: what can be learned from the Okinawa experiences.* Nephrology Dialysis and Transplantation Vol 21(4) pp 839-43

Jaar BG, Khatib R, Plantinga L, Boulware E, Powe N (2008) *Principles of screening for Kidney disease*. Clin Am Sov Neph; Vol 3; pp601-609.

Jindal KK (1999) *Management of idiopathic and diffuse proliferative glomerulonephritis:Evidence based recommendations*. Kidney International; Vol 55 (70) pp s33-s40

Kannel WB, Stampfer MJ, Castelli WP, Verter J (1984) *The prognostic significance of proteinuria: the Framingham study.* American Heart Journal; Vol 108; pp1347-52

Kidney Disease Outcomes Quality Initiative –KDOQI (2004) *Clinical practice guidelines on hypertension and anti-hypertensive agents in chronic kidney disease.* American Journal of Kidney disease Vol 43 (Sup 1) pp s1-290

Kincaid-Smith P (2004) *Hypothesis: obesity and the insulin resistance syndrome play a major role.*

Kiryluk K, Gharavi A, Izzi C, Scolara F (2010) *IgA nephrology – the case for a genetic basis becomes stronger*. Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation; 25(2); pp336-338

Laitner (2002) *Population screening for bladder cancer and glomerulonephritis: A review of the evidence with policy recommendations*. National Screening Committee London UK

Laville M & Alamartine E (2004) *Treatment options for IgA nephropathy in adults: a proposal for evidence based strategy*. Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation; Vol 19; pp1947-1951

Levey AS, Atkins R, Coresh EP, Cohen AJ (2007) *Chronic Kidney Disease as a global public health problem:Approches and initiatives – a position statement from Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes.* Kidney International; Vol 72; pp247-259

Levin A (1999) *Management of membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis: Evidence based recommendations.* Kidney International; Vol 55(70); pp s41-s46

Macanovic M, & Mathieson P (2007) *Primary glomerular disease*. Medicine vol 35 Issue 9 pp489-496

Muirhead N (1999) *Management of idiopathic membranous nephropathy:Evidence based recommendations.* Kidney International; Vol 55(70); pp s47-s55

NHS Health Check Programme (2009) *Putting Prevention first – NHS Health Check: Vascular Risk Assessment and Management. Best Practice Guidance*. DH 2009

National Collaborating Centre for Chronic Conditions – NCC-CC (2008). *Chronic Kidney Disease; National clinical guideline for early identification and management in adults in primary and secondary care*. London. Royal College of Physicians. September 2008.

National Institute for Clinical Excellence (2008) *Chronic Kidney Disease: Early identification and management of chronic kidney disease in adults in primary and secondary care.*

National Screening Committee (2003) *Criteria for appraising the viability effectiveness and appropriateness of a screening programme.* Available at http://www.screening.nhs.uk/criteria. Accessed July 15th 2010.

National Screening Committee (2008) *Handbook for vascular risk assessment, risk reduction and risk management*. NSC

Niclolas T, Frisch GD, Opotowsky A *et al* (2004) *Awareness of kidney disease in the US population: findings from the national health and nutrition examination survey* 1999-2000. American Journal of Kidney Disease vol 44 pp 185

Nolin L and Courteau M (1999) *Management of IgA nephropathy: Evidence based recommendations*. Kidney International; Vol 55(70); pp s56-s62

Powe N, Boulware E (2009) *Population based screening for CKD*. American Journal of Kidney Disease; Vol 3(3); pp s64-s70.

Powe N, Boulware L (2009) *Population-Based Screening for CKD* American Journal of Kidney Diseases, Volume 53, Issue 3, Pages S64-S70

Research Group on Chronic renal disease (1999) *Nationwide and long term survey of primary glomerulonephritis in Japan as observed in 1850 biopsied cases*. Nephron vol 82 pp205-213.

Ritchie CD, Bevan EA, Collier SJ (1986) *Importance of occult haematuria found at screening*. BMJ; 299(6706); pp1010-1012

Roderick P, Nicholson T, Armitage A Mehta R, Mullee M, Gerard K, Drey N, Feest T, Greenwood R, Lamping D & Townsend J. (2005). *An evaluation of the costs, effectiveness and quality of renal replacement therapy provision in renal satellite units in England and Wales.* Health Technology Assessment Vol 9 (24)

Shen P, He L, Huang D (2008) *Clinical course and prognostic factors of clinically early IgA nephropathy*. Netherlands Journal of medicine; Vol 66; pp242-247

Singapore Ministry of Health (2007) *Glomerulonephritis guideline – full text*. National Guideline Clearing House, Ministry of Health. Singapore.

Taal M (2007) *UK renal Association Clinical practice guidelines*. The Renal Association London

Tighe P (2004) *Quality targets in dipstick urinanalysis*. Journal for Quality, comparability reliability in chemical measurement; Vol 10; pp52-54

Wakai K, Nakai S, Matsuo S, Kawamura T, Hotta N, Maeda K, Ohno Y & IgAN research group (2002) *Risk factors for IgA Nephropathy: A case control study with incident cases in Japan*. Nephron; Vol 90; pp16-23

Wilson J and Jungner G (1968) *Principles and practice of screening for disease*. WHO chronicle 22(11) pp473

Wirta O, Mustonen J, Helin H, Pasternack A (2008) *Incidence of biopsy-proven glomerulonephritis*. Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation Vol 23(1) 193-200.

Woolhandler S, Pels RJ, Bor DH, Himmelstein DU, Lawrence RS (1989) *Dipstick urinalysis screening of asymptomatic adults for urinary tract disorders. I. Hematuria and proteinuria.* JAMA; Vol 262; pp1214-9